DNA REPLICATION LICENSING

Nishitani, H¹ and Z. Lygerou²

¹ Department of Molecular Biology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, 812-8582, Japan, ² Department of Gen. Biology, School of Medicine, University of Patras, 26500 Rio, Patras, Greece

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Licensing control ensures replication once in a cell cycle
- 4. Origin licensing factors
 - 4.1. Replication origins in eukaryotes
 - 4.2. Origin licensing factors in eukaryotes
 - 4.2.1. ORC complex
 - 4.2.2. Cdc6/18
 - 4.2.3. Cdt1
 - 4.2.4. *MCM* complex
 - 4.3. Glimpses from the evolutionary past: licensing factor homologues in Archaea

5. Establishing the licensed state

- 5.1. Lessons from E .coli
 - 5.2. Licensing in eukaryotes
 - 5.3. Other factors involved in licensing
- 6. Activation of licensed origins
 - 6.1. S-phase promoting kinases; CDKs and DDKs
 - 6.2. Molecular events at origin unwinding
 - 6.3. Targets of CDKs and DDKs for origin activation

7. Prevention of re-replication

- 7.1. Global regulation of replication by CDKs
- 7.2. Inactivation of licensing factors by CDKs and proteolysis
- 7.3. Re-replication control and the Ran cycle
- 7.4. Geminin, an inhibitor of Cdt1

8. Perspective

9. Acknowledgements

10. References

1. ABSTRACT

The DNA replication licensing system ensures that chromosomal DNA is replicated precisely once before cell division occurs. A DNA helicase must be loaded on origin DNA for replication to initiate. Considerable evidence suggests that the MCM complex acts as a replicative helicase in eukaryotes. When the MCM complex is loaded on the chromatin, the replication origin is formally defined as being licensed for replication. Licensing takes place several hours before origins are activated to undergo replication in S-phase. Genetic and biochemical studies show that the licensing process is well conserved in eukaryotes. Cyclin Dependent Kinases (CDKs), the master regulators of the cell cycle, coordinate the initiation of the two key cell cycle events, replication of DNA and its segregation at mitosis. Eukaryotes have developed complex regulatory mechanisms to ensure that origin licensing is coordinated with these events so that genome integrity is preserved during successive cell divisions.

2. INTRODUCTION

Replication of eukaryotic chromosomal DNA is initiated from several sites on each chromosome, called

replication origins. In Esherichia coli (E. coli) the origin is defined by a single specific replicator DNA, oriC, on which initiator proteins assemble. OriC is bound and marked by DnaA, and then DnaB, a DNA replication helicase, is loaded (57). Studies of DNA replication in eukaryotes during the last decades indicate that similar initiation processes take place on eukaryotic replication origins. Before initiation, origins become competent for replication by the assembly of the pre-replicative complex (pre-RC). The existence of such a complex prior to initiation was first demonstrated by genomic foot-printing analysis of the replication origin ARS1 of Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S.cerevisiae) (24). The origins thus modified are defined as licensed origins and can be activated for initiation by Sphase CDKs as cells enter S-phase. The first clue in understanding the licensing step at a molecular level came with the discovery of the Origin Recognition Complex (ORC), a complex which binds to S. cerevisiae ARS1 (7). In this review, we will describe the licensing factors so far identified and discuss how timely licensing is ensured.

Checkpoint controls regulate cell cycle progression, so that initiation of replication is coordinated

with chromosome segregation (104), thereby ensuring that no DNA segment is left unreplicated nor does it re-replicate before chromosome separation occurs. It is only after completion of chromosome separation that a new round of replication is allowed. Such regulations ensure that identical genetic information is transferred to daughter cells. If cells enter mitosis before completion of replication or re-replicate their DNA, faithful chromosome segregation is interrupted, causing a genomic instability in daughter cells that would result in cell death or malignant cell growth. The control that prevents initiation of mitosis when cells have unreplicated or damaged DNA is known as the S/M checkpoint control, and many checkpoint genes involved in this control have been identified (reviewed in (108)). In this review, we focus on the control that prevents re-replication, and ensures that DNA replication takes place only once per cell cycle.

3. LICENSING CONTROL ENSURES REPLICATION ONCE IN A CELL CYCLE

The DNA replication licensing model, first formulated by Blow and Laskey (8), predicted a positive acting licensing factor for replication. As our knowledge of cell cycle control advances and initiator proteins are being identified, we gain an understanding of replication licensing at the molecular level. Origins undergo a dynamic change during the cell cycle, from a licensed state before initiation to the unlicensed state after initiation has occurred. These states are strictly separated during the cell cycle to ensure a block in re-replication.

Figure 1A illustrates a schematic model describing how regulation of origin licensing prevents rereplication in a cell cycle. At the end of mitosis or at the G1-phase, replication origins become licensed (marked as RED) (note that some potential origins may not be licensed under certain conditions). The licensed origins fall into three categories: early firing origins, where replication initiates early during S-phase; late firing origins; and silent origins, which are licensed but not used. Complete replication results in the production of two identical copies of each chromosome to be segregated into the two daughter cells during mitosis. To prevent re-replication, origins are regulated in a way that 1) once origins fire, they are brought to the unlicensed state, 2) silent origins are converted to the unlicensed state when passively replicated from an advancing replication fork and 3) re-licensing is inhibited until completion of mitosis. When this control is abrogated, re-licensing of replicated chromosomes will occur, leading to re-replication within a single S-phase (Figure 1B1) or during the G2-phase (Figure 1B2). In the following sections, we describe how the licensed state is established and how the two states of origins (licensed and unlicensed) are regulated during the cell cycle.

4. ORIGIN LICENSING FACTORS

4.1. Replication origins in eukaryotes

The *E. coli* origin of replication was recovered as a DNA element that could confer to a DNA fragment the ability to replicate autonomously as an episome. The same strategy was used to identify Autonomously Replicating Sequences

(ARSs) in eukaryotes. The yeast *S. cerevisiae* was proven to be a good model system for such analyses. Using a plasmid based assay, various ARS elements were identified. Many ARS elements were shown to act as replication origins on their chromosomal sites, mostly by 2 dimensional (2D) gel analysis. Comparison of *S. cerevisiae* ARSs identified a 11 bp AT rich element, 5' (T/A)TTTA(T/C)(A/G)TTT(T/A)3', called ACS, or ARS Consensus Sequence. The best characterized *S. cerevisiae* ARS is ARS1 that is about 100 bp long and composed of an essential ACS containing A element and three additional elements (B1, B2, and B3) located downstream of the A element (80).

A similar assay allowed the identification of ARS elements in the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. The *S. pombe* ARSs consist of much longer A/T rich sequences of around 1000 bp. A 11 bp ACS-like sequence was detected in *S. pombe* ARS elements, but deletion of it had only a small effects on ARS activity (17). Rather, *S. pombe* ARSs require several clusters of 50-100bp long A/T rich stretches. ars2004 requires a 40 bp region, a 165 bp region and a 65 bp region which are scattered over a 940 bp long segment, for its full ARS activity (107).

In higher eukaryotes, similar plasmid-based assays for the identification of origin sequences proved unsuccessful. Physical mapping analysis indicates that much longer chromosomal elements are required for origin activity. For example, the human β -globin origin requires a 8 kb DNA segment for origin activity. In the other extreme, almost any DNA can be replicated in *Xenopus* egg extracts.

4.2. Origin licensing factors in eukaryotes

Origin sequences are bound by different protein complexes during the cell cycle. The pre-replicative complex (pre-RC), formed after mitosis, confers to origins the license to replicate and is activated for initiation upon entry into S-phase (23). So far, four key licensing factors essential for pre-RC formation have been identified, the Origin Recognition Complex, Cdc6/18, Cdt1 and the MCM complex. All these factors are conserved from yeast to mammalian cells, suggesting that the basic features of licensing have been conserved in all eukaryotes.

4.2.1. ORC complex

The well-defined origins of S. cerevisiae permitted the identification of the Origin Recognition Complex (ORC). A protein complex was biochemically purified that specifically binds to ARS elements in vitro. This complex, ORC, is composed of six subunits, Orc1, Orc2, Orc3, Orc4, Orc5 and Orc6 (120, 72, 62, 56, 53, and 50kDa, respectively (7)). Orc1 and Orc5 subunits have an ATP binding motif. Orc4 also has a similar motif. These Orc subunits, as well as licensing factors Cdc6/18 and MCM2-7 (see later) are all members of the AAA+ family of ATPases (6) (98). ORC shows ATPase activity when incubated with ATP (60). This activity is inhibited in the presence of ARS DNA, suggesting that ORC is stabilized on the origin in an ATP bound form (68). It is not yet clarified how ATP hydrolysis is involved in the biological function of the ORC complex. Orc1 is the main subunit that confers ATPase activity and ATP dependent ARS binding.



Figure 1. Control of origin licensing in the cell cycle. (A) Changes in the licensed state of origins during the cell cycle prevent re-replication. (1-2); At the end of mitosis or early G1-phase, origins become licensed (turn from black to Red), but some origins (ori-2) may remain unlicensed (black) under certain conditions. (3); Upon entry into S-phase, initiation starts from early firing origins (ori-1). At the same time ori-1 is converted to the unlicensed state. (4); As replication proceeds in both directions, replication forks may pass a licensed origin before it is activated (ori-3). At this time, ori-3 is brought to an unlicensed state. (5); Later in S-phase, initiation starts at late firing origins (ori-4). (6); At the end of S-phase, two copies of chromosome have been produced. (B) Abrogation of the licensing control causes re-replication.(B1); Origins are re-licensed during S-phase. (B2); origins are re-licensed in G2-phase.

Despite the differences in origin organization, homologues of *S. cerevisiae* ORC (ScORC) subunits have been identified in eukaryotes from yeast to men, pointing to an evolutionary conservation of origin–bound complexes in all eykaryotes. Comparison of ORC subunits from different species shows that Orc1, 2, 4 and 5 show higher conservation (22-27% among human, *Drosophila* and *S. cerevisiae*) than Orc3 (18%) and Orc6 (14%).

In S. pombe, SpOrc4p has a unique extended sequence in the N-terminal region that contains nine copies of the AT-hook motif. This motif has a high affinity for AT-rich DNA and likely mediates the SpORC complex binding to the AT-rich origins of this organism (15, 63, 70). Consistently, an SpORC complex consisting of five subunits (90kDa Orc1, 68kDa Orc2, 80kDa Orc3, 45kDa Orc5 and 31kDa Orc6), but lacking Orc4 (135kDa) was purified from cell extracts prepared in the presence of lower concentrations of salts. Higher

salt extraction was necessary to purify the six subunit complex.

Both ScORC and SpORC complexes appear to associate tightly with origin DNA throughout the cell cycle (74, 76, 106). In contrast, the mammalian ORC complex does not exist as a stable complex in a cell cycle. Orc1 is removed from chromatin and/or degraded in S-phase (73, 90) and Orc6 has a low affinity for other components, while Orc2 is associated with chromatin throughout the cell cycle and likely to form a stable Orc2-5 core complex (22, 89, 134). Thus, it is difficult to isolate the human ORC complex as a six-subunit complex from cell extracts. A human ORC complex composed of six subunits can be isolated using heterologous expression in insect cells. Drosophila and Xenopus ORC complexes were purified as six subunit complexes. In Drosophila, DmOrc6 is essential for ORC-DNA binding and replication, but most of DmOrc6 does not form a complex with other subunits and is present in the cytoplasm (12), suggesting additional roles

for Orc6 in higher organisms. In this context, it is interesting to note that silencing of human Orc6 causes a failure in chromosome segregation and cytokinesis (114).

4.2.2. Cdc6/Cdc18

In contrast to the discovery of ORC through biochemistry, Cdc6 of S. cerevisiae and its S. pombe homologue, Cdc18, were isolated through genetic screening as temperature sensitive mutants defective in DNA replication (41, 105), and turned out to play a key role in origin licensing. Cdc6 and Cdc18 have 28% identity, and like ORC subunits, Orc1, 4 and 5, belong to the AAA+ family of ATPase (58). Cdc6/18 and Orc1 are most closely related (ScCdc6 and ScOrc1; 30% identity, SpCdc18 and SpOrc1; 30%, SpOrc1 and ScOrc1; 31%) (35). Both ScCdc6 and SpCdc18 are tightly regulated during the cell cycle, through both transcription and proteolysis, so that they are present only around late M / G1-phase, when licensing occurs. START specific transcription factor complexes (containing Swi6/Mbp1 in S. cerevisiae and Cdc10/Res2/Res1 in S. pombe), are responsible for correct cell cycle expression of the Cdc6/18 gene (61). Consistently, the cdc18 gene was also isolated as a target gene that suppressed a cdc10 temperature sensitive mutation when ectopically expressed. The Cdc6/18 protein is degraded through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway after initiation of replication (5, 26, 50). In contrast to the yeasts, mammalian Cdc6 is regulated differently. A fraction of mammalian Cdc6 remains associated with chromatin in Sphase and G2, with a population exported into the cytoplasm in a CDK-phosphorylation dependent manner (30, 52, 109, 111, 117). At the end of mitosis, Cdc6 is degraded in an APC dependent way (89, 112). In S. pombe, ectopic expression of Cdc18 induces over-replication of the genome (96, 101).

In addition to its role in licensing, Cdc6/18 is implicated in another important cell cycle control. A *S. pombe* strain lacking the cdc18 gene, in spite of being unable to initiate replication, enters catastrophic mitosis with a "cut" phenotype (58). This was the first evidence that initiator proteins are important not only for replication but also for the checkpoint control which arrests mitosis when replication is defective. High-level expression of cdc18 in *S. pombe* blocks entry into M-phase by checkpoint dependent and independent manners (36). Also, in mammalian cells, Chk1 dependent G2 arrest was observed when human Cdc6 was over-expressed in G2-cells (16). Additionally, in *S. cerevisiae*, Cdc6-dependent inactivating of the mitotic CDK-cyclin complex is important for mitotic exit (10).

4.2.3. Cdt1

During a screen for targets of the Cdc10 containing transcription factor in *S. pombe*, cdt (<u>C</u>dc10 <u>dependent</u> <u>transcript</u>) genes were isolated by immunoprecipitating and PCR-amplifying Cdc10 bound DNA fragment (42). A novel gene, called cdt1, showed a strict regulation by Cdc10 and suppressed a cdc10 temperature sensitive mutation when ectopically expressed. Genetic and biochemical analysis of SpCdt1 showed that it is required for origin licensing in this organism (100). Due

to the low level of conservation of Cdt1 across species, the identification of Cdt1 homologues from metazoa had to await their discovery in independent screens. Drosophila Cdt1 was isolated as a mutation (dup, or double parked) which showed DNA replication defects. The Dup protein was shown to colocalize with ORC proteins and to be 20% identical to SpCdt1 (138). Xenopus Cdt1 was isolated during a screen for genes expressed early in embryogenesis and shows 24% identity to SpCdt1 (79). ScCdt1 has only 10% identity to SpCdt1 (128). Similar to the cdc18 gene, Spedt1 is transcribed around late M/G1-phase and its protein levels peak at this stage (42, 100). Human Cdt1 also accumulates in G1-phase, and is degraded in S-phase (102, 141). In contrast to these observations, ScCdt1 is present throughout the cell cycle and is regulated by nucleocytoplasmic shuttling: ScCdt1 accumulates in the nucleus in G1-phase, but is excluded from nucleus in a CDK dependent way after S-phase onset (128). The Cdt1 protein does not have known functional motifs, except a coiled-coil domain.

4.2.4. The MCM complex

The MCM complex consists of six related proteins of around 70-120 kDa, Mcm2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7, collectively named MCM2-7. Mcm (mini-chromosome maintenance) genes were first isolated by a genetic screen for mutations that caused a loss of mini-chromosomes in S. cerevisiae (78). Later, the MCM complex was purified from Xenopus egg extracts as a factor that is essential for licensing of chromosome DNA in G1-phase and is lost from chromatin after replication at G2-phase (13, 64, 77). All six Mcm proteins are essential and belong to the AAA+ family of ATPases. The overall similarity between the members of MCM2-7 is 20-30%. A region of 250 amino acids that contains the ATP binding region is highly conserved (reviewed in (131)). The six proteins interact with each other and form a hexameric complex with a molecular weight of around 600 kDa. Electon Microscopy (EM) analysis of purified S. pombe MCM complexes shows a globular structure with a central cavity (2). Considerable evidence suggests that MCM2-7 acts as the replicative DNA helicase. Ishimi first showed that a purified human trimeric complex composed of Mcm4, 6, and 7 (Mcm4-6-7) possesses ATPase activity and a helicase activity with a 3' to 5' direction (46), though the helicase activity was low and non-processive. When a template with a forked structure of 5' and 3' single strand-exposed DNA was used in the presence of single-strand binding protein, highly processive helicase activity was detected, capable of unwinding more than 500 bp (69). Molecular size analysis and EM observations indicate that two MCM4-6-7 heterotrimers form a hexameric toroidal structure with a central channel (118). Addition of Mcm2 or a Mcm3-5 complex to the MCM4-6-7 complex inhibits its helicase activity, probably by changing the hexameric structure (47). In spite of these observations, all six Mcm proteins are required to complete DNA replication (66). Inactivation of any of the components results in defects in DNA replication, though inactivation of Mcm2, 3, and 5 together may restore MCM function. Recently, a model was presented that catalytic MCM4-6-7 and regulator MCM2-3-5 sub-complexes co-operate to hydrolyse ATP, predicting a



Figure 2. Origin licensing in the three domains of life. (A) Origin activation in Bacteria. The initiator protein DnaA is bound to *cis* acting elements on oriC forming the initial complex. Oligomerization of DnaA forms the open complex and recruits to the origin the helicase DnaB, together with the helicase loader DnaC. (B) Licensing in eukaryotes. ORC binds to *cis* acting elements on replication origins. Binding of Cdc6/18 leads to a conformational change which loads the MCM helicase onto chromatin. An additional factor, Cdt1 is essential for MCM loading. (C) Most Archaea possess a simplified repertoire of licensing factors consisting of one protein equally related to both Orc1 and Cdc6/18 and one MCM family member. A model for the loading of these proteins on the origins is shown.

mechanical similarity to F1-ATPase (119). F1-ATPase rotates a centrally located gamma subunit and the MCM complex was proposed to use a similar mechanism to rotate DNA. So far, helicase activity of a purified MCM2-7 complex has not been observed. The MCM 2-7 complex is not active in G1 phase and a modification at the onset of S-phase, such as phosphorylation, may cause a structural change producing an active helicase. Recent results suggest that MCM2-7 purified from S-phase extracts is associated with Cdc45 and has both ATPase and helicase activity (83).

4.3. Glimpses from the evolutionary past: licensing factor homologues in Archaea

Archaea constitute the third domain of life and are believed to be related to the evolutionary ancestor of all modern day eukaryotes. Despite possessing origins of replication which appear more bacteria-like in overall organization, decoding of several archaeal genomes revealed homologues of licensing factors in this domain. Several species of Archaea appear to contain a single gene almost equally related to both Orc1 and Cdc6 and a single member of the MCM family. Orc1/Cdc6 and MCM homologues from *Pyrococcus abyssi* were found associated *in vivo* with the proposed single replication origin of this species (86), while the MCM homologue of *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* was shown to form a double hexamer exhibiting processive DNA helicase activity *in vitro* (14, 59, 121). Archaea may thus possess a simplified version of the eukaryotic licensing machinery.

5. ESTABLISHING THE LICENSED STATE

In prokaryotes and eukaryotes alike, as well as many viruses, origin associated proteins bind to *cis* DNA elements and process the origin DNA to allow the assembly of the replication machinery. Loading of the replicative helicase is a key step in this process. In eukaryotes, formation of the pre-replicative complex on origin DNA, by the sequential assembly of ORC, Cdc6, Cdt1 and the MCM proteins, takes place after mitosis and gives to origins the license to replicate. Figure 2 compares the processes which lead to origin activation in *E. coli*, Archaea and eukaryotes.

5.1. Lessons from E. coli

E. coli has one circular chromosomal DNA that is replicated from a single site, called oriC. oriC DNA has two functional elements; one comprises five DnaA boxes, to which initiator protein DnaA binds, and the other has three A/T rich 13 mer sequences. DnaA belongs to the AAA+ family of ATPases. Initial binding of DnaA monomers to the DnaA boxes of oriC is followed by oligomerization of 20-40 subunits of DnaA in the ATPbound state. This causes a local unwinding of the A/T rich repeats and allows the loading of two hexamers of the replicative helicase, DnaB, assisted by the helicase loader DnaC. DnaB extends the single stranded unwound region and DNA synthesis is initiated by primase and polymerase III. At the same time, the β -clamp subunit of polymerase III loaded onto the origin stimulates ATP hydrolysis by DnaA and inactivates the oriC (reviewed in (57)).

5.2. Licensing in eukaryotes

Based on studies using Xenopus egg extracts and the yeast systems, the following model has emerged for the steps leading to licensing of eukaryotic origins (Figure 2). The ORC complex binds to origins and marks the position of initiation sites on the chromatin. In yeast, all ORC subunits remain associated with origin throughout the cell cycle, though in mammalian cells re-assembly into the six complex ORC is required at the end of mitosis. The origin bound ORC permits the association of Cdc6 and Cdt1, which are recruited independently of each other. These factors then load the MCM complex on the origins (3, 18, 25, 79, 100, 129). Loading of the MCM complex marks the completion of DNA licensing. Since the unwinding of duplex DNA is a crucial step for initiating DNA replication, loading of the replicative helicase on the origins is a key point that must be carried out before replication starts. A crucial difference in origin activation between Bacteria, Archaea, and Eukarya is that in eukaryotes, origin licensing is temporally separated from initiation in the cell cycle, for example in mammalian cells licensing is established several hours before initiation starts. Unwinding of origin DNA to initiate replication requires activation of kinases (see next section).

The molecular steps that lead to the assembly of the pre-replicative complex on origin DNA have remarkable similarities to origin activation in the E. coli oriC (Figure 2), except that MCM loading appears to proceed in the absence of a melted structure of origin DNA such as found in oriC. Origin recognition and binding by ORC can be paralleled to the initial binding of DnaA monomers to oriC DNA. We postulate that Cdc6 binding leads to formation of a complex which may be likened to the complex formed by oligomerization of DnaA. Complex formation may be facilitated by interactions between adjacent AAA+ domain containing subunits, as reported for other AAA+ type ATPases. Several ORC subunits as well as Cdc6 belong to this family of ATPases. The fact that most Archaea have a single protein almost equally related to both Orc1 and Cdc6 and that this Orc1/Cdc6 protein is structurally related to DnaA supports this analogy (28, 75). Separation of the initial origin DNA recognition (ORC function) from the conformational change which recruits the helicase (Cdc6 function) during evolution may have permitted tighter cell cycle control of the timing of helicase recruitment and may have allowed the ORC complex to resume more divergent roles linked to specific DNA binding and chromatin remodeling. In addition, the temporal separation of helicase loading from origin unwinding in eukaryotes may have been important for allowing the coupling of licensing to passage through mitosis together with a tight control over S-phase onset. In vitro analysis of ORC and Cdc6 interactions with ARS1 indicates that Cdc6 binding to ORC induces a conformation

change that increases the affinity of ORC to origin DNA (94). Cdc6 mutated at its ATP binding site is unable to induce such a structural change. Additionally, this mutant Cdc6, though it can still bind to ORC, is unable to load MCM on chromatin. The conformational change induced by Cdc6, as well as the presence of Cdt1, is essential for the subsequent recruitment of the MCM complex onto chromatin.

How is MCM loading accomplished? In vitro reconstitution experiments show that chromatin association of ORC and Cdc6 occurs in the presence of ATP or ATP-y-S, but loading of MCM does not occur in the presence of ATP- γ -S, suggesting that ATP hydrolysis by Cdc6 and/or ORC is required for MCM loading (34). Based on structural similarities of Cdc6/18 and Orc1 to loader proteins such as RF-C (a ring shaped loader of the sliding clamp PCNA) and DnaC, a similar mechanism for MCM loading has been proposed (110). DnaB loading by DnaC requires ATP hydrolysis, and at the same time DnaC is brought to an inactive ADP bound form. If ATP hydrolysis inactivates Cdc6 and ORC, similar to DnaC, this would prevent further MCM loading once an origin is licensed. In fact, ORC, Cdc6 and Cdt1 loose their affinity for chromatin after loading the MCM complex (44, 116).

Why is the presence of Cdt1 required for MCM loading? Cdt1 was shown to be transported into the nucleus together with the MCM complex in *S. cerevisiae* (128); mouse Cdt1 was shown to bind Mcm6 directly and to possess a non-specific DNA binding activity (146); while *S. pombe* Cdt1 was found in a complex with Cdc6/18 when overexpressed. Cdt1 may therefore deliver the MCM complex to origins. Alternatively, Cdt1 may have a role to induce changes on origin bound complexes which are essential for MCM loading. An understanding of the action of Cdt1 at the molecular level would have to await a better characterization of its structure and function.

Does the loaded MCM complex encircle the double stranded DNA? Where on the origin are MCM complexes positioned with relation to ORC? And how many MCM complexes are loaded from one ORC bound origin? In S. cerevisiae, both ORC and MCM antibodies precipitated a 270bp fragment of ARS1 by CHIP (chromatin immunoprecipitation) (129), indicating that the MCM complex is loaded near the ORC complex. In addition, whole genome CHIP analysis of ORC and MCM binding sites on S. cerevisiae chromosomes showed that MCM binding sites cluster near ORC bound sites in this organism. In S. pombe, CHIP analysis over the 1000 bplong ars2004 (which contains three functionally important regions, I, II, and III) indicates that the ORC complex binds to Region I and III, which are about 600bp apart (it is not known if two ORC complexes bind to each region or a single ORC binds to both region), while MCM complexes are enriched in the middle, between regions I and III, about 300bp away from ORC bound sites (125). This suggests that the loaded MCM complex is not located in close vicinity to the ORC complex. In mammalian cells, the distance between the bound ORC and MCM is suggested to exceed 500-1000 bp. In Xenopus egg extracts, the number

of MCM complexes loaded is 20-40 times more than the number of chromatin bound ORC complexes (45). This indicates that several MCM complexes are loaded from a single ORC bound site. A similar observation was reported when linear DNA fragments coupled to beads were incubated with *Xenopus* egg extracts. ORC and MCM complexes were detected at a 1:1 ratio on 80 bp fragments. The ratio changed to 1: 20-40 when a 6 kb DNA fragment was used. MCM complexes are believed to be in excess over ORC complexes on DNA in several species, including yeast and mammals.

Laskey and Madine recently proposed an elegant model to explain current evidence for the loading and function of the MCM complex (67). This model postulates that MCM complexes are loaded onto DNA at the origins of replication but then move away from the origin by rotation along the helical thread of DNA. After being anchored to an immobile nuclear structure, an identical rotary action would pump the DNA back towards the origin, causing it to unwind at anchored sites of DNA replication.

5.3. Other factors involved in or regulating licensing

In vitro reconstitution experiments using purified proteins demonstrate that a substantial level of Xenopus sperm DNA can be licensed when incubated with purified ORC, Cdc6/18, Cdt1 and the MCM complex, together with nucleoplasmin that promotes decondensation of sperm DNA (34). Does this mean that these four factors are enough for licensing in vivo? Recent results indicate that at least one more factor is involved in establishing and maintaining licensing in vivo in S. cerevisiae. Noc3. first identified as a protein required for ribosome maturation and transport, was isolated as a multicopy suppressor of a mcm5 mutant (149). Noc3 is associated with origins, but not with non-origin DNA throughout the cell cycle. In the absence of Noc3, though ORC is detected on the chromatin, Cdc6 and MCM chromatin association is inhibited. In addition, when Noc3 was inactivated after licensing was completed, MCM proteins were removed from chromatin. Since Noc3 is a HLH protein and co-precipitates with Orc1 and Mcm5, Noc3 may facilitate MCM loading by modulating the chromatin around the origin. Further biochemical structure characterization will be required to clarify the involvement of Noc3 in licensing. It will also be interesting to investigate whether Noc3 connects replication to ribosomal RNA regulation, since this work suggests a link between protein synthesis and cell growth and DNA replication. A similar connection was proposed for Yph1, a yeast pescadillo homologue. Yph1 was isolated as one of the proteins that coprecipitated with S. cerevisiae Orc1 (27). It is required for Sphase progression, is mostly located in the nucleolus and forms complexes with ribosomal proteins.

Mcm10 was originally isolated in the same genetic screen used for isolating the Mcm2-7 genes in *S. cerevisiae.* It shows genetic interactions with Mcm and Orc genes (91). Interestingly, in mcm10-mcm7 double mutants, defects of each single mutant are suppressed. The ScMcm10 protein is associated with origins throughout the cell cycle. When Mcm10 was inactivated, the MCM complex dissociated from chromatin, suggesting that Mcm10 is required for keeping origins in the licensed state (43). Experiments with the fission yeast, *Xenopus* and human cells however, suggest that in these organisms, Mcm10 may function after licensing and before S-phase onset ((140) (49), (37), see also later).

6. ACTIVATION OF LICENSED ORIGINS

6.1. S-phase promoting kinases; CDKs and DDKs

When cells are in an appropriate growth condition, they establish replication licensing and initiate DNA replication. The key regulator that drives cells into S-phase is S-CDKs (Cyclin Dependent Kinases bound with S-phase specific cyclins) such as Cdc2-Cig2 in *S. pombe*, Cdc28-Clb5 and 6 in *S. cerevisiae*, and Cdk2-cyclinE and A in higher eukaryotes (122). In addition, cells require another kinase, Cdc7/Dbf4 (Cdc7 kinase bound with the regulatory subunit Dbf4, originally isolated in *S. cerevisiae* also called DDK for Dbf4 Dependent Kinase) (81). It is important that activation of CDKs beyond a certain threshold only takes place after licensing is completed, since premature activation of CDK blocks licensing (see later section).

6.2. Molecular events at origin unwinding

At the G1/S transition, phosphorylations by CDKs and DDKs are believed to cause a change in the structure of the pre-RC that leads to recruitment of additional factors to the licensed origins, unwinding of origin DNA, and finally loading of the DNA polymerases. In the *S. cerevisiae* ARS1, a melted chromatin structure was detected after completion of the Cdc7 function and before Cdc8 (a thymidylate kinase) functions (33).

Cdc45 is a key factor that converts the inactive pre-RC complex to a pre-initiation complex ready for replication. It appears that Cdc45 association with the MCM complex is a key step in origin unwinding. MCM 2-7 complex immunoprecipitated from *Xenopus* egg extracts is free of Cdc45 and does not have helicase activity. On the contrary, MCM2-7 complexes purified from S-phase chromatin are tightly associated with Cdc45 and show high helicase activity (83). Though the possibility of contaminating helicases in the precipitates remains, it is conceivable that a conformational change at the MCM2-7 complex, following association with other factors such as cdc45, leads to an increase in its helicase activity.

Several factors in addition to Cdc45 interact with origin bound complexes at the G1/S transition, before initiation can occur. In *Xenopus*, Mcm10 associates with Pre-RC independently of DDK activity, and stimulates origin binding of Cdc45 (140). Similarly, experiments in *S. pombe* indicate that Mcm10, while bound to chromatin throughout the cell cycle, is required for the chromatin association of Cdc45 (37). Dpb11 of *S. cerevisiae*, isolated as a multicopy suppressor of pol ε , is required for loading of both pol ε and pol α to origins (4, 85). Sld genes (Sld1 - Sld6) were isolated as synthetically lethal mutations with dpb11 (54). Sld2 forms a complex with Dpb11 (see later), Sld3 forms a complex with Cdc45 (55), while Sld5 and its *Xenopus* homologue were recently shown to form a novel



Figure 3. Over-replicating *S. pombe* cells. The photograph shows DAPI staining of nuclear DNA. Insert shows that of wild type cells.

complex (called GINS) which binds to chromatin in a manner mutually dependent with Cdc45-Sld3 and is required for the initiation of replication (56, 65, 126). Xmus101, the *Xenopus* Dpb11 homologue, was recently shown to be required for the loading the GINS complex onto chromatin (65) and, somewhat surprisingly, for the loading of Cdc45 (132).

Dpb11, as well as several of the Sld gene products appear to connect DNA replication with checkpoint control. Cut5, the *S. pombe* Dpb11 homologue, is also involved in checkpoint regulation. Human TopBP1 and *Xenopus* Xmus101 are homologous to Dpb11/Cut5 and both have BRCT1 domains, a domain often detected in checkpoint proteins (132).

Building of the pre-initiation complex leads to origin unwinding. Once the origin is unwound, RPA binds to the single stranded DNA, and pol α -primase and pol ϵ are recruited to initiate DNA synthesis (51, 93, 136, 151) (reviewed in (127)). Where does unwinding of origin DNA occur in relation to the position of ORC and MCM? Unwinding of ARS1 DNA occurs in the B2 element located about 30 bp downstream of the B1 element (to which and to element A ORC binds) and the first sites of leading strand synthesis for both orientations are mapped between B1 and B2 elements (1). Linker scanning analysis suggests that the MCM complex is associated with element B2 (139). In the S. pombe ars2004, 2D gel analysis indicates that initiation sites within this origin occur close to region II, where the MCM complex is located and about 300 bp away from the region where ORC associates (125). These observations indicate that unwinding occurs where MCM is located. Evidence in higher eukaryotes however, suggests that MCM proteins may be located away from sites of replication (reviewed in (67)).

6.3. Targets of CDKs and DDKs for origin activation

Though the order to action of CDKs and DDKs may differ between species, activation of both CDKs and DDKs is essential for S-phase onset. Many of the components of ORC and MCM complexes, such as Orc2, Mcm2 and Mcm4 undergo S-phase specific phosphorylation. Much evidence suggests that MCM proteins are phosphorylated by the DDK, which leads to interactions with Cdc45 and to an active helicase. Specifically the Mcm2 protein is an excellent substrate for DDK, both in a monomeric form and complexed with other Mcm proteins (72, 81, 82). Genetic evidence shows an interesting interaction between Cdc7 and MCM proteins. A mutation in the mcm5-bob1 gene in *S. cerevisiae* bypasses the requirement for Cdc7 kinase and a mutation in dbf4 complements a mcm2 mutation (39). Consistently, in mcm5-bob1 cells, melting of the origin region was observed in G1 arrested cells, while such melting is normally detected after the execution step of Cdc7 (33). In fission yeast, Mcm10 stimulates MCM phosphorylation by DDK (71).

ORC, Cdc6/18, Cdt1 and MCM all contain consensus sites for phosphorylation by CDKs. It is not known at the moment whether phosphorylation of any of these proteins is required for origin firing. Rather, phosphorylation of these proteins by CDKs is interpreted as having a negative role to prevent re-replication (see later section), though it is possible that phosphorylation is required for activation, and at the same time it causes the inactivation of licensing factors. The first protein whose phosphorylation by CDK was shown to be required for DNA replication is the Sld2/Drc1 protein (84). Sld2 was isolated as one of the genes that showed synthetic lethality with dpb11, while Drc1 as a multicopy suppressor of dpb11 (54, 137). Dpb11 is required for the recruitment to origins of pol ε and pol α . Phosphorylation of Sld2 occurs at the onset of S-phase, and this phosphorylation is essential for Sld2-Dpb11 complex formation, and thus loading of polymerases on unwound origins. The same conclusion was reported in S. pombe: SpDrc1 forms a complex with Cut5, a Dpb11 homologue(103).

7. PREVENTION OF RE-REPLICATION

After DNA replication is initiated, the MCM complex and Cdc45 move along the chromatin together with replication enzymes assembled at the replication fork to complete DNA replication, while ORC complexes remain on the origins (3, 130). To ensure genome integrity, re-replication of replicated DNA must be inhibited until chromosome separation is completed (Figure 1). Upon activation, licensed origins (pre-RC) convert to the unlicensed state (post-RC). If cells maintain the replicated chromosomes in an unlicensed state until the end of mitosis, re-replication is prevented. Thus, the temporal and special regulation of these two states in the cell cycle is crucial for once-per-cell-cycle replication. How is this achieved? Genetic experiments in S. pombe provided a profound insight into this important regulation by examining mutants that lead to re-replication of chromosomal DNA (Figure 3). The first key regulator to be identified turned out to be the master regulator of the cell cycle, the CDK Cdc2.

7.1. Global regulation of replication by CDKs

CDKs, associated with stage specific cyclins, drive cells into S-phase and M-phase. The M-CDKs (CDKs associated with B type mitotic cyclins) are essential for entry into mitosis. Loss of M-CDKs would therefore be expected to cause cell cycle arrest at G2. An important finding was first observed using a *S. pombe* cdc2 temperature sensitive mutant. This cdc2 mutant arrests in G2-phase at the restrictive temperature of 36°C. When the



Figure 4. Licensing control during the cell cycle. Origin licensing is allowed when CDK activity is low, normally at the end of M-phase and/or G1-phase. When cells are in a permissive growth conditions, S-CDK is activated and together with DDK initiates DNA replication. Phosphorylation of MCM and its association with Cdc45 appears to be important for activation of MCM complex as a helicase. DNA is unwound, the replication enzymes are recruited and replication proceeds with MCM-Cdc45 complex. After origin is activated, it is brought to an unlicensed state. CDK inactivates licensing factors by phosphorylating them until the end of mitosis. In higher eukaryotes, Cdt1 is inactivated by Geminin, which appears at the beginning of S-phase. Phosphorylated MCM complexes in S and G2-phases are sequestered by Crm1 and RanGTP binding.

cdc2 cells were treated briefly at higher temperature, to completely destroy the Cdc2 protein, and were then returned to the permissive temperature, cells re-started Sphase instead of entering into mitosis (9). An even more dramatic phenotype was observed when the mitotic cyclin cdc13 was depleted. A strain depleted for Cdc13 underwent multiple rounds of S-phase without intervening M-phase, and its DNA content doubled from 2C to 4C, 8C... like a kind of genome wide PCR (40). Similarly, high-level expression of the Cdc2-Cdc13 inhibitor, rum1 resulted in re-replication (19, 95). The same phenomena were observed in *S. cerevisiae* by ectopically expressing the CDK inhibitor Sic1 in G2-phase (21). Also in mammalian cells, a conditional knockout of Cdc2 caused re-replication (48).

As described in Figure 1.B, re-replication may take place from the G2-phase or within S-phase. The above results demonstrated that M-CDKs are essential for preventing re-replication in G2 cells. However, in these

cells, the control that prevents re-replication within the same S-phase is still intact and cells completed a round of replication before reinitiating replication. Recent results suggest that the periodic appearance of S-CDKs is essential for initiating multiple rounds of S-phase, and that this kinase activity is at the same time important for preventing re-initiation within the same S-phase (143).

On the other hand, premature activation of M-CDKs brings about untimely mitosis without DNA replication. Ectopic expression of the Cdc2 protein kinase induces mitosis, even from G1. Importantly, Cdc6/18 must be expressed and licensing established before CDK kinase activity increases (113).

Based on these observations, a concept emerged that the CDK cycle globally regulates the temporal order of S-phase and M-phase. By controlling origin licensing, the CDK cycle ensures one round of replication per cell cycle (23, 144). At the end of mitosis, CDK is inactivated and licensing of origins is allowed. Activation of S-CDK triggers initiation of replication and at the same time brings origins to the unlicensed state. Subsequent increase of M-CDK maintains the unlicensed state until the end of mitosis. If M-CDK is absent and S-CDK activity low, cells in G2-phase become capable of establishing licensing.

How do CDKs regulate licensing to prevent rereplication? One interesting observation is that in *S. pombe* Cdc2-Cdc13 associates with replication origins through the ORC complex, and its association is mutually exclusive to that of MCM (143). Cdc2-Cdc13 may physically inhibit the recruitment of licensing factors and/or phosphorylate the ORC complex, rendering it refractory to association with licensing factors.

Experiments in the *Xenopus* egg system suggest an elegant way to activate CDKs bound to origins. Activation of CDKs depends on the inactivation of CDK inhibitors such as p27 and p57 in mammalian cells, sic1 in *S. cerevisiae*, and Xic1 in *Xenopus*. In a *Xenopus in vitro* system, Xic1, Cdk2/cyclinE and the SCF ubiquitin ligase are recruited to chromatin through association with licensing factors. This recruitment promotes Xic1 degradation and activates Cdk2 (31, 148). It remains to be seen whether a similar regulation exists in other organisms.

Several licensing factors have CDK phosphorylation sites, and their phosphorylation results in their inactivation as described in the following sections.

7.2. Inactivation of licensing factors by CDKs and proteolysis

S. pombe genetics uncovered another important control acting over re-replication. High-level expression of Cdc18 overrode the re-replication control, driving cells to a continuous replication (96, 101). In addition, Cdt1 was shown to promote Cdc18 induced re-replication (100, 147). In contrast to the re-replication induced by loss of Cdc2-cdc13, the DNA content increased continuously in cells over expressing these licensing factors, and this continuous replication was depended on checkpoint control (36), suggesting that re-licensing of origins was taking place repeatedly in a single S-phase. In mammalian cells, a partial re-replication was observed when Cdt1 was over-expressed in p53 deficient cell lines (135). Regulating the levels of Cdc18 and Cdt1 is therefore crucial for once per cell cycle replication.

Proteolysis turned out to be important for regulating the levels of licensing factors during the cell cycle: inactivation of *S. pombe* Pop1, a component of the E3 ubiquitin ligase SCF (62), resulted in polyploidy. Pop1 was shown to target Cdc18 for proteolysis following its phosphorylation by Cdc2 (5, 50). Similarly, *S.cerevisiae* Cdc6 is recognized and targeted for proteolysis by the F box protein Cdc4 (26). Similar controls appear to function in higher eukaryotes: knockout of Skp2, a mammalian Fbox protein in mouse results in increase of ploidy in some tissues (97). ts41 cells have a defect in Nedd 8 conjugation of SCF complex, which is essential for its activity. At restrictive temperature, ts41 cells undergo re-replication (11, 38), when both Cdt1 and Cdc6/18 proteins accumulate (our unpublished observation). Interestingly, it is Cdt1, rather than Cdc6/18, which appears to be the main target of the proteolysis-dependent rereplication control in metazoa. Human Cdt1 is degraded by ubiquitin dependent proteolysis so that the Cdt1 protein is only detected in G1 (102). In contrast, mammalian Cdc6/18 remains in S-phase and G2 and it is only degraded at the end of mitosis through the APC E3 ligase (89, 112). In addition, human Orc1 looses affinity for chromatin in Sphase and is degraded, in an SCF-dependent manner (73, 90). In C. elegans, inactivation of CUL-4, a member of the cullin ubiquitin ligase family, causes massive rereplication, producing cells with up to 100C DNA content. Removal of one genomic copy of Cdt1 suppresses the cul-4 rereplication phenotype, suggesting that Cdt1 is the main target of this control (150).

Phosphorylation may also affect the ability of licensing factors to assemble the pre-replicative complex. Both ORC and MCM proteins are phosphorylated by CDKs. Orc2, in *S. pombe* as well as *S.cerevisiae*, is phosphorylated during S-phase and mitosis (76, 99, 133). A phosphorylation site mutant of *S. pombe* Orc2 was able to enhance cdc18 mediated re-replication. Consistently, ScCdc6 can associate with ORC purified from G1 cells, but not from G2 cells, suggesting that a modification takes place on ORC after S-phase, which inhibits Cdc6 association (120). In mammalian cells, phosphorylation of ORC, Cdc6/18, and MCM proteins appear to decrease their affinity for chromatin (29).

7.3. Re-replication control and the Ran cycle

The initial licensing model of Blow and Laskey (8) postulated that the nuclear envelope excludes an essential licensing factor from the nucleus during G2, which only gains access to DNA after nuclear envelope break-down in mitosis. Indeed, S. cerevisiae MCM proteins where soon discovered and shown to be excluded from the nucleus in G2 and to accumulate in the nucleus in G1, lending support to this model. Since in yeast the nuclear envelope does not break down in mitosis, cell cycle specific import and export of MCM proteins into and out of the nucleus ensure that MCM proteins accumulate in the nucleus only in G1. MCM proteins in other species however appear constitutively nuclear, which questioned the importance of regulated nucleocytoplasmic transport for timely licensing in all eukarvotes. As more data accumulate however, it becomes evident that the nucleocytoplasmic transport machinery has an important role in regulating licensing in all eukaryotes. This regulation differs in its details among species, and appears to be one of several means which the cell employs to ensure re-replication control under all circumstances.

In *S. cerevisiae*, not only the MCM proteins but also ScCdt1 is subjected to cell cycle specific nucleocytoplasmic shuttling. Cdt1 is present in the nucleus in G1 and appears to enter the nucleus in a manner interdependent with the nuclear accumulation of the MCM complex. ScCdt1 is then exported from the nucleus during S-phase and G2, dependent on its phosphorylation by CDKs.

In higher eukaryotes, MCM proteins appear constitutively nuclear. However a recent report suggests that the nucleocytoplasmic transport machinery may be important for preventing re-replication also in higher eukaryotes, by binding to and inactivating licensing factors, even in the absence of net export from the nucleus. Xenopus MCM proteins form a complex with the exportin-1/Crm1 during S-phase, and formation of this complex is dependent on both Ran-GTP and phosphorylation by Sphase CDKs (145). Lowering Ran-GTP within nuclei allows MCM proteins to re-associate with chromatin and induces rereplication. Re-replication control is therefore added to the long list of cellular processes regulated by Ran. It is unclear whether MCM proteins are the only pre-RC components which are targeted by Ran-GTP/Crm1. In fact, previous reports have shown that a soluble pool of Cdc6 is exported from the nucleus during S-phase, dependent on its phosphorylation by CDKs (30, 52, 109, 111, 117). In addition, activation of the licensing inhibitor Geminin (see next session) requires that it is imported into the nucleus.

7.4. Geminin, an inhibitor of Cdt1

In contrast to single cell organisms, multi cellular organisms may require a more strict regulation over rereplication, since a failure in genome integrity would be detrimental for the organism. Geminin, first cloned in Xenopus as a substrate of the mitosis specific ubiquitin ligase APC (88), may be such a metazoa specific licensing regulator. It has a so called "destruction box" and mutating this box renders Geminin a potent inhibitor of licensing. In the presence of an undegradable form of Geminin, loading of the MCM complex was prevented, though ORC and Cdc6/18 were found on the chromatin. A Geminin interacting protein, isolated from human cells and Xenopus extracts, turned out to be Cdt1. Using the Xenopus in vitro assay. Geminin binding to Cdt1 was shown to block MCM loading (124, 141). High-level expression of Geminin in mammalian cells arrests cells in G1-phase (123, 142). It is possible that Geminin binding will block Cdt1 chromatin association, or will prevent MCM loading on chromatin bound Cdt1 (34, 146). In vitro binding assays show that Geminin binds to the middle of Cdt1, while Mcm6 binds to the C-terminus of Cdt1 (146).

It is shown that Geminin has a substantial role in preventing premature licensing in *Xenopus* eggs (arrested at the metaphase of meiosis II), but re-replication is not induced in Geminin depleted extracts (88). Inactivation of Geminin by anti-sense treatment caused a Chk1 dependent G2 arrest at early stages in the *Xenopus* embryo (87). The knockout of Geminin in *Drosophila* results in pleiotropic effects: increase in DNA content, anaphase defects, and increase in S-phase cells (92, 115). Further experiments are required to establish that the observed high amount of DNA content is due to re-replication. There may be a cell type specific or a stage specific effect in Geminin depleted cells. Inactivation of the Cdc2 protein kinase brings about rereplication in mammalian cells (48). Since degradation of Geminin is dependent on APC, which is in its turn activated by the Cdc2 protein kinase, Geminin may not be degraded when Cdc2 is absent. It would be interesting to study Geminin in such cells.

It is curious that Geminin and Cdt1 mostly do not co-exist during the mammalian cell cycle (102, 141). Cdt1 is present in G1-phase and disappears after initiation of replication, while Geminin is not present in G1 and appears around the beginning of S-phase. Cdt1 and Geminin may only co-exist during a small window of the cell cycle, around the G1/S transition. Geminin may have a failsafe role to inhibit any Cdt1 escaping degradation under adverse conditions, such as heat shock or DNA damage, when CDKs might be inactivated. It is possible however that Geminin may have an unidentified role in addition to inhibition of Cdt1 in the cell cycle. A careful knockout experiment of Geminin is required to address Geminin's *in vivo* role.

The data presented in the previous sections showed that the basic licensing control is conserved from yeast to mammalian cells. Though the details of regulation somewhat differ between organisms and are highly redundant, CDKs always act as the principal regulator to control licensing in a cell cycle. Only when CDK activity is low at G1-phase, licensing of origins is allowed, and following initiation, CDKs maintain the replicated DNA in an unlicensed state until chromosome separation is completed. It is therefore somewhat surprising that no Geminin homologue has yet been identified in lower eukaryotes. This could either reflect a very low level of conservation of this licensing regulator across evolution or could indicate a metazoa-specific control which has evolved to accommodate the complexity of life as a multicellular eukaryote.

8. PERSPECTIVE

ORC, Cdc6/18, Cdt1 and the MCM complex are essential for establishing licensing. *In vitro* reconstitution experiments indicate that in the presence of these four factors, substantial levels of sperm DNA was licensed for replication, in a Geminin sensitive manner (34). At least in such a simplified situation, these four factors appear therefore sufficient for licensing. However, each origin in the cell is subject to a specific surrounding chromatin structure, including nucleosomes, heterochromatin regions, adjacent transcriptional complexes etc. To establish licensing in such circumstances, additional factors may be required to promote and maintain licensing. Noc3, histone acetyl-transferases and chromatin remodelling factors may be some of the additional factors involved.

Examination of licensing in re-replicating cdc13depleted *S. pombe* cells shows that the control of temporal licensing for each round of S-phase is maintained independent of M-CDK (143). On the other hand, oscillation of mitotic CDK activity can be driven in the absence of DNA replication in early *Xenopus* development. These observations indicate that intrinsic oscillations of DNA replication and M-CDK activity are mutually independent events. To combine these events in the cell cycle for the production of two identical cells, cells have developed checkpoint controls to ensure interdependency of each cell cycle event. Licensing factors are essential for the checkpoint signal which prevents activation of M-CDK, through forming replication forks, while CDKs inactivate licensing factors more directly as described. Do licensing factors also directly regulate CDKs? In S. cerevisiae, a role for Cdc6 to inactivate M-CDK has been proposed (10) while in mammalian cells, Cdc6/18 is present until the end of mitosis. There might be an unknown function of Cdc6/18 to regulate CDK activity. It is also important that activation of CDK and Cdc7 at the initiation of replication must depend on the completion of licensing. Is there a control to ensure that licensing is finished before accumulation of S-CDKs? The presence of a licensing checkpoint has been proposed for mammalian cells (119). Is it also possible that free forms of licensing factors act inhibitory to CDKs, and their assembly on chromatin may free CDKs for activation?

During the cell cycle, licensing takes when CDK activity is low at the end of mitosis, while increase in CDK activity after S-phase onset inhibits further licensing. CDKs are therefore unlikely to act positively on licensing. Unexpectedly, a positive role for CDKs on licensing is emerging at the transition from quiescence to proliferation. Licensing is lost when cells exit the cell cycle to G0 and it needs to be re-established when cells resume growth. Using an in vitro licensing system, Coverley et al. showed that cyclin E stimulates MCM loading onto chromatin during the transition from G0 to S-phase (20). Similarly, knocking out both E-type cyclins in mice had surprisingly little effect on cycling mouse embryonic fibroblasts, but inhibited licensing during the G0 to S-phase transition (32). It would be interesting to investigate why cyclin E becomes essential for licensing in this transition.

Do licensing factors have roles in addition to ensuring timely licensing? Orc proteins were shown early on to be involved in heterochromatin formation in both yeast and *Drosophila* and to be required for mitosis, while human Orc6 was also recently shown to be involved in mitosis (114). Geminin is involved in neurogenesis as well as cell cycle control. More experiments are required to address the multiple roles of licensing factors *in vivo*.

Licensing of replication must also be coupled to cell growth. Cells enter the cell cycle only when adequate conditions are ensured. Production and inactivation of licensing factors should depend on such growth conditions. In this sense, anchorage dependent expression of Cdc6/18 (53), and the involvement of factors such as Noc3 and Yph1, may provide a new insight to connect growth to licensing.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Our works were supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science,

Technology of Japan, the Association for International Cancer Research, the EMBO Young Investigator Program and the HFSPO.

10. REFERENCES

1. Abdurashidova, G., M. Deganuto, R. Klima, S. Riva, G. Biamonti, M. Giacca, and A. Falaschi: Start sites of bidirectional DNA synthesis at the human lamin B2 origin. *Science* 287, 2023-2026 (2000)

2. Adachi, Y., J. Usukura, and Yanagida. M: A globular complex formation by Nda1 and the other five members of the MCM protein family in fission yeast. *Genes Cells* 2, 467-479 (1997)

3. Aparicio, O., D. Weinstein, and S. Bell: Components and dynamics of DNA replication complexes in S. cerevisiae: redistribution of MCM proteins and Cdc45p during S phase. *Cell* 91, 59-69 (1997)

4. Araki, H., S. Leem, A. Phongdara, and A. Sugino: Dpb11, which interacts with DNA polymerase II(epsilon) in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, has a dual role in S-phase progression and at a cell cycle checkpoint. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 11791-11795 (1995)

5. Baum, B., H. Nishitani, S. Yanow, and P. Nurse: Cdc18 transcription and proteolysis couple S phase to passage through mitosis. *EMBO J* 17, 5689-5698 (1998)

6. Bell, S., J. Mitchell, J. Leber, R. Kobayashi, and B. Stillman: The multidomain structure of Orc1p reveals similarity to regulators of DNA replication and transcriptional silencing. *Cell* 83, 563-568 (1995)

7. Bell, S., and B. Stillman: ATP-dependent recognition of eukaryotic origins of DNA replication by a multiprotein complex. *Nature* 357, 128-134 (1992)

8. Blow, J., and R. Laskey: A role for the nuclear envelope in controlling DNA replication within the cell cycle. *Nature* 332, 546-548 (1988)

9. Broek, D., R. Bartlett, K. Crawford, and P. Nurse: Involvement of p34cdc2 in establishing the dependency of S phase on mitosis. *Nature* 349, 388-393 (1991)

10. Calzada, A., M. Sacristan, E. Sanchez, and A. Bueno: Cdc6 cooperates with Sic1 and Hct1 to inactivate mitotic cyclin-dependent kinases. *Nature* 412, 355-358 (2001)

11. Chen, Y., D. McPhie, J. Hirschberg, and R. Neve: The amyloid precursor protein-binding protein APP-BP1 drives the cell cycle through the S-M checkpoint and causes apoptosis in neurons. *J Biol Chem* 275, 8929-8935 (2000)

12. Chesnokov, I., D. Remus, and M. Botchan: Functional analysis of mutant and wild-type Drosophila origin recognition complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 11997-12002 (2001)

13. Chong, J., H. Mahbubani, C. Khoo, and J. Blow: Purification of an MCM-containing complex as a component of the DNA replication licensing system. *Nature* 375, 418-421 (1995)

14. Chong, J. P., M. K. Hayashi, M. N. Simon, R. M. Xu, and B. Stillman: A double-hexamer archaeal minichromosome maintenance protein is an ATPdependent DNA helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 1530-5 (2000)

15. Chuang, R., and T. Kelly: The fission yeast homologue of Orc4p binds to replication origin DNA via multiple AT-hooks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 2656-2661 (1999)

16. Clay-Farrace, L., C. Pelizon, D. Santamaria, J. Pines, and R. Laskey: Human replication protein Cdc6 prevents mitosis through a checkpoint mechanism that implicates Chk1. *EMBO J* 22, 704-712 (2003)

17. Clyne, R., and T. Kelly: Genetic analysis of an ARS element from the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *EMBO J* 14, 6348-6357 (1995)

18. Coleman, T., P. Carpenter, and W. Dunphy: The Xenopus Cdc6 protein is essential for the initiation of a single round of DNA replication in cell-free extracts. *Cell* 87, 53-63 (1996)

19. Correa-Bordes, J., and P. Nurse: p25rum1 orders S phase and mitosis by acting as an inhibitor of the p34cdc2 mitotic kinase. *Cell* 83, 1001-1009 (1995)

20. Coverley, D., H. Laman, and R. Laskey: Distinct roles for cyclins E and A during DNA replication complex assembly and activation. *Nat Cell Biol* 4, 523-528 (2002)

21. Dahmann, C., J. Diffley, and K. Nasmyth: S-phasepromoting cyclin-dependent kinases prevent re-replication by inhibiting the transition of replication origins to a prereplicative state. *Curr Biol* 5, 1257-1269 (1995)

22. Dhar, S., L. Delmolino, and A. Dutta: Architecture of the human origin recognition complex. *J Biol Chem* 276, 29067-29071 (2001)

23. Diffley, J: Once and only once upon a time: specifying and regulating origins of DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. *Genes Dev* 10, 2819-2830 (1996)

24. Diffley, J., J. Cocker, S. Dowell, and A. Rowley: Two steps in the assembly of complexes at yeast replication origins *in vivo*. *Cell* 78, 303-316 (1994)

25. Donovan, S., J. Harwood, L. Drury, and J. Diffley: Cdc6p-dependent loading of Mcm proteins onto prereplicative chromatin in budding yeast. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 5611-5616 (1997)

26. Drury, L., G. Perkins, and J. Diffley: The Cdc4/34/53

pathway targets Cdc6p for proteolysis in budding yeast. EMBO J 16, 5966-5976 (1997)

27. Du, Y., and B. Stillman: Yph1p, an ORC-interacting protein: potential links between cell proliferation control, DNA replication, and ribosome biogenesis. *Cell* 109, 835-848 (2002)

28. Erzberger, J. P., M. M. Pirruccello, and J. M. Berger: The structure of bacterial DnaA: implications for general mechanisms underlying DNA replication initiation. *EMBO J* 21, 4763-73 (2002)

29. Findeisen, M., M. El-Denary, T. Kapitza, R. Graf, and U. Strausfeld: Cyclin A-dependent kinase activity affects chromatin binding of ORC, Cdc6, and MCM in egg extracts of Xenopus laevis. *Eur J Biochem* 264, 415-426 (1999)

30. Fujita, M., C. Yamada, H. Goto, N. Yokoyama, K. Kuzushima, M. Inagaki, and T. Tsurumi: Cell cycle regulation of human CDC6 protein. Intracellular localization, interaction with the human mcm complex, and CDC2 kinase-mediated hyperphosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 274, 25927-25932 (1999)

31. Furstenthal, L., C. Swanson, B. Kaiser, A. Eldridge, and P. Jackson: Triggering ubiquitination of a CDK inhibitor at origins of DNA replication. *Nat Cell Biol* 3, 715-722 (2001)

32. Geng, Y., Q. Yu, E. Sicinska, M. Das, J. E. Schneider, S. Bhattacharya, W. M. Rideout, R. T. Bronson, H. Gardner, and P. Sicinski: Cyclin E ablation in the mouse. *Cell* 114, 431-43 (2003)

33. Geraghty, D., M. Ding, N. Heintz, and D. Pederson: Premature structural changes at replication origins in a yeast minichromosome maintenance (MCM) mutant. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18011-18021 (2000)

34. Gillespie, P., A. Li, and J. Blow: Reconstitution of licensed replication origins on Xenopus sperm nuclei using purified proteins. *BMC Biochem* 2, 15 (2001)

35. Grallert, B., and P. Nurse: The ORC1 homolog orp1 in fission yeast plays a key role in regulating onset of S phase. *Genes Dev* 10, 2644-2654 (1996)

36. Greenwood, E., H. Nishitani, and P. Nurse: Cdc18p can block mitosis by two independent mechanisms. *J Cell Sci* 111, 3101-3108 (1998)

37. Gregan, J., K. Lindner, L. Brimage, R. Franklin, M. Namdar, E. A. Hart, S. J. Aves, and S. E. Kearsey: Fission Yeast Cdc23/Mcm10 Functions after Pre-replicative Complex Formation To Promote Cdc45 Chromatin Binding. *Mol Biol Cell* 14, 3876-87 (2003)

38. Handeli, S., and H. Weintraub: The ts41 mutation in Chinese hamster cells leads to successive S phases in the absence of intervening G2, M, and G1. *Cell* 71, 599-611 (1992)

39. Hardy, C., O. Dryga, S. Seematter, P. Pahl, and R. Sclafani: mcm5/cdc46-bob1 bypasses the requirement for the S phase activator Cdc7p. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 3151-3155 (1997)

40. Hayles, J., D. Fisher, A. Woollard, and P. Nurse: Temporal order of S phase and mitosis in fission yeast is determined by the state of the p34cdc2-mitotic B cyclin complex. *Cell* 78, 813-822 (1994)

41. Hereford, L., and L. Hartwell: Sequential gene function in the initiation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae DNA synthesis. *J Mol Biol* 84, 445-461 (1974)

42. Hofmann, J., and D. Beach: cdt1 is an essential target of the Cdc10/Sct1 transcription factor: requirement for DNA replication and inhibition of mitosis. *EMBO J* 13, 425-434 (1994)

43. Homesley, L., M. Lei, Y. Kawasaki, S. Sawyer, T. Christensen, and B. Tye: Mcm10 and the MCM2-7 complex interact to initiate DNA synthesis and to release replication factors from origins. *Genes Dev* 14, 913-926 (2000)

44. Hua, X., and J. Newport: Identification of a preinitiation step in DNA replication that is independent of origin recognition complex and cdc6, but dependent on cdk2. *J Cell Biol* 140, 271-281 (1998)

45. Hyrien, O., K. Marheineke, and A. Goldar: Paradoxes of eukaryotic DNA replication: MCM proteins and the random completion problem. *Bioessays* 25, 116-125 (2003)

46. Ishimi, Y: A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. *J Biol Chem* 272, 24508-24513 (1997)

47. Ishimi, Y., Y. Komamura, Z. You, and H. Kimura: Biochemical function of mouse minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8369-8375 (1998)

48. Itzhaki, J., C. Gilbert, and A. Porter: Construction by gene targeting in human cells of a "conditional' CDC2 mutant that rereplicates its DNA. *Nat Genet* 15, 258-265 (1997)

49. Izumi, M., F. Yatagai, and F. Hanaoka: Cell cycledependent proteolysis and phosphorylation of human Mcm10. *J Biol Chem* 276, 48526-48531 (2001)

50. Jallepalli, P., G. Brown, M. Muzi-Falconi, D. Tien, and T. Kelly: Regulation of the replication initiator protein p65cdc18 by CDK phosphorylation. *Genes Dev* 11, 2767-2779 (1997)

51. Jares, P., and J. Blow: Xenopus cdc7 function is dependent on licensing but not on XORC, XCdc6, or CDK activity and is required for XCdc45 loading. *Genes Dev* 14, 1528-1540 (2000)

52. Jiang, W., N. Wells, and T. Hunter: Multistep

regulation of DNA replication by Cdk phosphorylation of HsCdc6. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 96, 6193-6198 (1999)

53. Jinno, S., M. Yageta, A. Nagata, and H. Okayama: Cdc6 requires anchorage for its expression. *Oncogene* 21, 1777-1784 (2002)

54. Kamimura, Y., H. Masumoto, A. Sugino, and H. Araki: Sld2, which interacts with Dpb11 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, is required for chromosomal DNA replication. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 6102-6109 (1998)

55. Kamimura, Y., Y. Tak, A. Sugino, and H. Araki: Sld3, which interacts with Cdc45 (Sld4), functions for chromosomal DNA replication in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *EMBO J* 20, 2097-2107 (2001)

56. Kanemaki, M., A. Sanchez-Diaz, A. Gambus, and K. Labib: Functional proteomic identification of DNA replication proteins by induced proteolysis *in vivo. Nature* 423, 720-724 (2003)

57. Katayama, T: Feedback controls restrain the initiation of Escherichia coli chromosomal replication. *Mol Microbiol* 41, 9-17 (2001)

58. Kelly, T., G. Martin, S. Forsburg, R. Stephen, A. Russo, and P. Nurse: The fission yeast cdc18+ gene product couples S phase to START and mitosis. *Cell* 74, 371-382 (1993)

59. Kelman, Z., J. K. Lee, and J. Hurwitz: The single minichromosome maintenance protein of Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum DeltaH contains DNA helicase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 14783-8 (1999)

60. Klemm, R., R. Austin, and S. Bell: Coordinate binding of ATP and origin DNA regulates the ATPase activity of the origin recognition complex. *Cell* 88, 493-502 (1997)

61. Koch, C., and K. Nasmyth: Cell cycle regulated transcription in yeast. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 6, 451-459 (1994)

62. Kominami, K., and T. Toda: Fission yeast WD-repeat protein pop1 regulates genome ploidy through ubiquitin proteasome-mediated degradation of the CDK inhibitor Rum1 and the S-phase initiator Cdc18. *Genes Dev* 11, 1548-1560 (1997)

63. Kong, D., and M. DePamphilis: Site-specific DNA binding of the Schizosaccharomyces pombe origin recognition complex is determined by the Orc4 subunit. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 8095-8103 (2001)

64. Kubota, Y., S. Mimura, S. Nishimoto, H. Takisawa, and H. Nojima: Identification of the yeast MCM3-related protein as a component of Xenopus DNA replication licensing factor. *Cell* 81, 601-609 (1995)

65. Kubota, Y., Y. Takase, Y. Komori, Y. Hashimoto, T.

Arata, Y. Kamimura, H. Araki, and H. Takisawa: A novel ring-like complex of Xenopus proteins essential for the initiation of DNA replication. *Genes Dev* 17, 1141-52 (2003)

66. Labib, K., J. Tercero, and J. Diffley: Uninterrupted MCM2-7 function required for DNA replication fork progression. *Science* 288, 1643-1647 (2000)

67. Laskey, R., and M. Madine: A rotary pumping model for helicase function of MCM proteins at a distance from replication forks. *EMBO Rep* 4, 26-30 (2003)

68. Lee, D., A. Makhov, R. Klemm, J. Griffith, and S. Bell: Regulation of origin recognition complex conformation and ATPase activity: differential effects of single-stranded and double-stranded DNA binding. *EMBO J* 19, 4774-4782 (2000)

69. Lee, J., and J. Hurwitz: Processive DNA helicase activity of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 4, 6, and 7 complex requires forked DNA structures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 98, 54-59 (2001)

70. Lee, J., K. Moon, Y. Jiang, and J. Hurwitz: The Schizosaccharomyces pombe origin recognition complex interacts with multiple AT-rich regions of the replication origin DNA by means of the AT-hook domains of the spOrc4 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 13589-13594 (2001)

71. Lee, J., Y. Seo, and J. Hurwitz: The Cdc23 (Mcm10) protein is required for the phosphorylation of minichromosome maintenance complex by the Dfp1-Hsk1 kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 2334-2339 (2003)

72. Lei, M., Y. Kawasaki, M. Young, M. Kihara, A. Sugino, and T. BK: Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev* 11, 3365-3374 (1997)

73. Li, C., and M. DePamphilis: Mammalian Orc1 protein is selectively released from chromatin and ubiquitinated during the S-to-M transition in the cell division cycle. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 105-116 (2002)

74. Liang, C., and B. Stillman: Persistent initiation of DNA replication and chromatin-bound MCM proteins during the cell cycle in cdc6 mutants. *Genes Dev* 11, 3375-3386 (1997)

75. Liu, J., C. L. Smith, D. DeRyckere, K. DeAngelis, G. S. Martin, and J. M. Berger: Structure and function of Cdc6/Cdc18: implications for origin recognition and checkpoint control. *Mol Cell* 6, 637-48 (2000)

76. Lygerou, Z., and P. Nurse: The fission yeast origin recognition complex is constitutively associated with chromatin and is differentially modified through the cell cycle. *J Cell Sci* 112, 3703-3712 (1999)

77. Madine, M., C. Khoo, A. Mills, and R. Laskey: MCM3

complex required for cell cycle regulation of DNA replication in vertebrate cells. *Nature* 375, 421-424 (1995)

78. Maine, G., P. Sinha, and B. Tye: Mutants of S. cerevisiae defective in the maintenance of minichromosomes. *Genetics* 106, 365-385 (1984)

79. Maiorano, D., J. Moreau, and M. Mechali: XCDT1 is required for the assembly of pre-replicative complexes in Xenopus laevis. *Nature* 404, 622-625 (2000)

80. Marahrens, Y., and B. Stillman: A yeast chromosomal origin of DNA replication defined by multiple functional elements. *Science* 255, 817-823 (1992)

81. Masai, H., and K. Arai: Cdc7 kinase complex: a key regulator in the initiation of DNA replication. *J Cell Physiol* 190, 287-296 (2002)

82. Masai, H., E. Matsui, Z. You, Y. Ishimi, K. Tamai, and A. K: Human Cdc7-related kinase complex. *In vitro* phosphorylation of MCM by concerted actions of Cdks and Cdc7 and that of a criticial threonine residue of Cdc7 bY Cdks. *J Biol Chem* 275, 29042-29052 (2000)

83. Masuda, T., S. Mimura, and H. Takisawa: CDK- and Cdc45-dependent priming of the MCM complex on chromatin during S-phase in Xenopus egg extracts: possible activation of MCM helicase by association with Cdc45. *Genes Cells* 8, 145-161 (2003)

84. Masumoto, H., S. Muramatsu, Y. Kamimura, and H. Araki: S-Cdk-dependent phosphorylation of Sld2 essential for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 415, 651-655 (2002)

85. Masumoto, H., A. Sugino, and H. Araki: Dpb11 controls the association between DNA polymerases alpha and epsilon and the autonomously replicating sequence region of budding yeast. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 2809-2817 (2000)

86. Matsunaga, F., P. Forterre, Y. Ishino, and H. Myllykallio: *In vivo* interactions of archaeal Cdc6/Orc1 and minichromosome maintenance proteins with the replication origin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 11152-7 (2001)

87. McGarry, T: Geminin Deficiency Causes a Chk1dependent G2 Arrest in Xenopus. *Mol Bio Cell* 13, 3662-3671 (2002)

88. McGarry, T., and M. Kirschner: Geminin, an inhibitor of DNA replication, is degraded during mitosis. *Cell* 93, 1043-1053 (1998)

89. Mendez, J., and B. Stillman: Chromatin association of human origin recognition complex, cdc6, and minichromosome maintenance proteins during the cell cycle: assembly of prereplication complexes in late mitosis. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 8602-8612 (2000)

90. Mendez, J., X. Zou-Yang, S. Kim, M. Hidaka, W.

Tansey, and B. Stillman: Human origin recognition complex large subunit is degraded by ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis after initiation of DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 9, 481-491 (2002)

91. Merchant, A., Y. Kawasaki, Y. Chen, M. Lei, and B. Tye: A lesion in the DNA replication initiation factor Mcm10 induces pausing of elongation forks through chromosomal replication origins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 17, 3261-3271 (1997)

92. Mihaylov, I., T. Kondo, L. Jones, S. Ryzhikov, J. Tanaka, J. Zheng, L. Higa, N. Minamino, L. Cooley, and H. Zhang: Control of DNA replication and chromosome ploidy by geminin and cyclin A. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 1868-1880 (2002)

93. Mimura, S., T. Masuda, T. Matsui, and H. Takisawa: Central role for cdc45 in establishing an initiation complex of DNA replication in Xenopus egg extracts. *Genes Cells* 5, 439-452 (2000)

94. Mizushima, T., N. Takahashi, and B. Stillman: Cdc6p modulates the structure and DNA binding activity of the origin recognition complex *in vitro*. *Genes Dev* 14, 1631-1641 (2000)

95. Moreno, S., and P. Nurse: Regulation of progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle by the rum1+ gene. *Nature* 367, 236-242 (1994)

96. Muzi Falconi, M., G. Brown, and T. Kelly: cdc18+ regulates initiation of DNA replication in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 1566-1570 (1996)

97. Nakayama, K., H. Nagahama, Y. Minamishima, M. Matsumoto, I. K. Nakamichi, K, S. M, R. Tsunematsu, T. Tsukiyama, N. Ishida, M. N. Kitagawa, K, and S. Hatakeyama: Targeted disruption of Skp2 results in accumulation of cyclin E and p27 (Kip1), polyploidy and centrosome overduplication. *EMBO J* 19, 2069-2081 (2000)

98. Neuwald, A., L. Aravind, J. Spouge, and E. Koonin: AAA+: A class of chaperone-like ATPases associated with the assembly, operation, and disassembly of protein complexes. *Genome Res* 9, 27-43 (1999)

99. Nguyen, V., C. Co, and J. Li: Cyclin-dependent kinases prevent DNA re-replication through multiple mechanisms. *Nature* 411, 1068-1073 (2001)

100. Nishitani, H., Z. Lygerou, T. Nishimoto, and P. Nurse: The Cdt1 protein is required to license DNA for replication in fission yeast. *Nature* 404, 625-628 (2000)

101. Nishitani, H., and P. Nurse: p65cdc18 plays a major role controlling the initiation of DNA replication in fission yeast. *Cell* 83, 397-405 (1995)

102. Nishitani, H., S. Taraviras, Z. Lygerou, and T. Nishimoto: The human licensing factor for DNA replication Cdt1 accumulates in G1 and is destabilized after initiation of S-phase. *J Biol Chem* 276, 44905-44911 (2001)

103. Noguchi, E., P. Shanahan, C. Noguchi, and P. Russell: CDK phosphorylation of Drc1 regulates DNA replication in fission yeast. *Curr Biol* 12, 599-605 (2002)

104. Nurse, P: Ordering S phase and M phase in the cell cycle. *Cell* 79, 547-550 (1994)

105. Nurse, P., and B. Y: Genetic control of the cell division cycle in the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Mol & Gen Genet* 146, 167-178 (1976)

106. Ogawa, Y., T. Takahashi, and H. Masukata: Association of fission yeast Orp1 and Mcm6 proteins with chromosomal replication origins. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 7228-7236 (1999)

107. Okuno, Y., H. Satoh, M. Sekiguchi, and M. H: Clustered adenine/thymine stretches are essential for function of a fission yeast replication origin. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 6699-6709 (1999)

108. Osborn, A. J., S. J. Elledge, and L. Zou: Checking on the fork: the DNA-replication stress-response pathway. *Trends Cell Biol* 12, 509-16 (2002)

109. Pelizon, C., M. Madine, P. Romanowski, and R. Laskey: Unphosphorylatable mutants of cdc6 disrupt its nuclear export but still support DNA replication once per cell cycle. *Genes Dev* 14, 2526-2533 (2000)

110. Perkins, G., and J. Diffley: Nucleotide-dependent prereplicative complex assembly by Cdc6p, a homolog of eukaryotic and prokaryotic clamp-loaders. *Mol Cell* 2, 23-32 (1998)

111. Petersen, B., J. Lukas, C. Sorensen, J. Bartek, and K. Helin: Phosphorylation of mammalian CDC6 by cyclin A/CDK2 regulates its subcellular localization. *EMBO J* 18, 396-410 (1999)

112. Petersen, B., C. Wagener, F. Marinoni, E. Kramer, M. Melixetian, C. Denchi EL Gieffers, C. Matteucci, J. Peters, and K. Helin: Cell cycle- and cell growth-regulated proteolysis of mammalian CDC6 is dependent on APC-CDH1. *Genes Dev* 14, 2330-2343 (2000)

113. Piatti, S., T. Bohm, J. Cocker, J. Diffley, and K. Nasmyth: Activation of S-phase-promoting CDKs in late G1 defines a "point of no return" after which Cdc6 synthesis cannot promote DNA replication in yeast. *Genes Dev* 10, 1516-1531 (1996)

114. Prasanth, S., K. Prasanth, and B. Stillman: Orc6 involved in DNA replication, chromosome segregation, and cytokinesis. *Science* 297, 1026-1031 (2002)

115. Quinn, L., A. Herr, T. McGarry, and H. Richardson: The Drosophila Geminin homolog: roles for Geminin in limiting DNA replication, in anaphase and in neurogenesis. *Genes Dev* 15, 2741-2754 (2001)

116. Rowles, A., S. Tada, and J. Blow: Changes in association of the Xenopus origin recognition complex with chromatin on licensing of replication origins. *J Cell Sci* 112, 2011-2018 (1999)

117. Saha, P., J. Chen, K. Thome, S. Lawlis, Z. Hou, M. Hendricks, J. Parvin, and A. Dutta: Human CDC6/Cdc18 associates with Orc1 and cyclin-cdk and is selectively eliminated from the nucleus at the onset of S phase. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 2758-2767 (1998)

118. Sato, M., T. Gotow, Z. You, Y. Komamura-Kohno, Y. Uchiyama, N. Yabuta, H. Nojima, and Y. Ishimi: Electron microscopic observation and single-stranded DNA binding activity of the Mcm4, 6, 7 complex. *J Mol Biol* 300, 421-431 (2000)

119. Schwacha, A., and S. Bell: Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 8, 1093-1104 (2001)

120. Seki, T., and J. Diffley: Stepwise assembly of initiation proteins at budding yeast replication origins *in vitro*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 14115-14120 (2000)

121. Shechter, D. F., C. Y. Ying, and J. Gautier: The intrinsic DNA helicase activity of Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum delta H minichromosome maintenance protein. *J Biol Chem* 275, 15049-59 (2000)

122. Sherr, C: G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. *Cell* 79, 551-555 (1994)

123. Shreeram, S., A. Sparks, D. Lane, and J. Blow: Cell type-specific responses of human cells to inhibition of replication licensing. *Oncogene* 21, 6624-6632 (2002)

124. Tada, S., A. Li, D. Maiorano, M. Mechali, and J. Blow: Repression of origin assembly in metaphase depends on inhibition of RLF-B/Cdt1 by geminin. *Nat Cell Biol* 3, 107-113 (2001)

125. Takahashi, T., E. Ohara, H. Nishitani, and H. Masukata: Multiple ORC-binding sites are required for efficient MCM loading and origin firing in fission yeast. *EMBO J* 22, 964-974 (2003)

126. Takayama, Y., Y. Kamimura, M. Okawa, S. Muramatsu, A. Sugino, and H. Araki: GINS, a novel multiprotein complex required for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. *Genes Dev* 17, 1153-65 (2003)

127. Takisawa, H., S. Mimura, and Y. Kubota: Eukaryotic DNA replication: from pre-replication complex to initiation complex. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 12, 690-696 (2000)

128. Tanaka, S., and J. Diffley: Interdependent nuclear accumulation of budding yeast Cdt1 and Mcm2--7 during G1. *Nat Cell Biol* 4, 198-207 (2002)

129. Tanaka, T., D. Knapp, and K. Nasmyth: Loading of an Mcm protein onto DNA replication origins is regulated by Cdc6p and CDKs. *Cell* 90, 649-660 (1997)

130. Tercero, J., K. Labib, and J. Diffley: DNA synthesis at individual replication forks requires the essential initiation factor Cdc45p. *EMBO J* 19, 2082-2093 (2000)

131. Tye, B: MCM proteins in DNA replication. *Annu Rev Biochem* 68, 649-686 (1999)

132. Van Hatten, R., A. Tutter, A. Holway, A. Khederian, J. Walter, and W. Michael: The Xenopus Xmus101 protein is required for the recruitment of Cdc45 to origins of DNA replication. *J Cell Biol* 159, 541-547 (2002)

133. Vas, A., W. Mok, and J. Leatherwood: Control of DNA replication via Cdc2 phosphorylation sites in the Origin Recognition Complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 5767-5777 (2001)

134. Vashee, S., P. Simancek, M. Challberg, and T. Kelly: Assembly of the human origin recognition complex. *J Biol Chem* 276, 26666-26673 (2001)

135. Vaziri, C., S. Saxena, Y. Jeon, C. Lee, K. Murata, Y. Machida, N. Wagle, D. S. Hwang, and A. Dutta: A p53-dependent checkpoint pathway prevents rereplication. *Mol Cell* 11, 997-1008 (2003)

136. Walter, J., and J. Newport: Initiation of eukaryotic DNA replication: origin unwinding and sequential chromatin association of Cdc45, RPA, and DNA polymerase alpha. *Mol Cell* 5, 617-627 (2000)

137. Wang, H., and S. Elledge: DRC1, DNA replication and checkpoint protein 1, functions with DPB11 to control DNA replication and the S-phase checkpoint in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 3824-3829 (1999)

138. Whittaker, A., I. Royzman, and T. Orr-Weaver: Drosophila double parked: a conserved, essential replication protein that colocalizes with the origin recognition complex and links DNA replication with mitosis and the down-regulation of S phase transcripts. *Genes Dev* 14, 1765-1776 (2000)

139. Wilmes, G., and S. Bell: The B2 element of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae ARS1 origin of replication requires specific sequences to facilitate pre-RC formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 101-106 (2002)

140. Wohlschlegel, J., S. Dhar, T. Prokhorova, A. Dutta, and J. Walter: Xenopus Mcm10 binds to origins of DNA replication after Mcm2-7 and stimulates origin binding of Cdc45. *Mol Cell* 9, 233-240 (2002)

141. Wohlschlegel, J., B. Dwyer, S. Dhar, C. Cvetic, J. Walter, and A. Dutta: Inhibition of eukaryotic DNA replication by geminin binding to Cdt1. *Science* 290, 2309-2312 (2000)

142. Wohlschlegel, J., J. Kutok, A. Weng, and A. Dutta: Expression of geminin as a marker of cell proliferation in normal tissues and malignancies. *Am J Pathol* 161, 267-273 (2002)

143. Wuarin, J., V. Buck, P. Nurse, and J. Millar: Stable association of mitotic Cyclin B/cdc2 to replication origins prevents endoreduplication. *Cell* 111, 419-431 (2002)

144. Wuarin, J., and P. Nurse: Regulating S phase: CDKs, licensing and proteolysis. *Cell* 85, 785-787 (1996)

145. Yamaguchi, R., and J. Newport: A role for Ran-GTP and Crm1 in blocking re-replication. *Cell* 113, 115-25 (2003)

146. Yanagi, K., T. Mizuno, Z. You, and F. Hanaoka: Mouse geminin inhibits not only Cdt1-MCM6 interactions but also a novel intrinsic Cdt1 DNA binding activity. *J Biol Chem* 277, 40871-40880 (2002)

147. Yanow, S., Z. Lygerou, and P. Nurse: Expression of Cdc18/Cdc6 and Cdt1 during G2 phase induces initiation of DNA replication. *EMBO J* 20, 4648-4656 (2001)

148. You, Z., K. Harvey, L. Kong, and J. Newport: Xic1 degradation in Xenopus egg extracts is coupled to initiation of DNA replication. *Genes Dev* 16, 1182-94 (2002)

149. Zhang, Y., Z. Yu, X. Fu, and C. Liang: Noc3p, a bHLH protein, plays an integral role in the initiation of DNA replication in budding yeast. *Cell* 109, 849-860 (2002)

150. Zhong, W., H. Feng, F. E. Santiago, and E. T. Kipreos: CUL-4 ubiquitin ligase maintains genome stability by restraining DNA-replication licensing. *Nature* 423, 885-9 (2003)

151. Zou, L., and B. Stillman: Assembly of a complex containing Cdc45p, replication protein A, and Mcm2p at replication origins controlled by S-phase cyclin-dependent kinases and Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 3086-3096 (2000)

Key Words: DNA replication, licensing, ORC, Cdc6, Cdt1, MCM, CDK, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr H. Nishitani, Department of Molecular Biology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, 812-8582, Japan, Tel: 81-92-642-6177, Fax: 81-92-642-6183, E-mail: hideon@molbiol.med.kyushu-u.ac.jp